
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   02/20/20 

 
 

- 1 - 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC17-00101 
CASE NAME: KHURANA VS. CITIMORTGAGE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY CITIMORTGAGE, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 Defendant’s motion for summary judgment is granted.  The issue conference and trial 

dates are vacated.  Defendant shall prepare a proposed judgment of dismissal, separate from 

any formal order on the motion, and shall submit that proposed judgment to plaintiffs’ counsel 

for approval as to form. 

The basis for this ruling is as follows. 

 A. The Pleading Of Plaintiffs’ Complaint. 

 A motion for summary adjudication “necessarily includes a test of the sufficiency of the 

complaint.”  (American Airlines, Inc. v. County of San Mateo (1996) 12 Cal.4th 1110, 1117-18.)  

In this context, the courts consider the motion under the same standards applicable to a motion 

for judgment on the pleadings.  (Id.) 

 B. The First And Second Causes of Action. 

 The First and Second Causes of Action are for violation of the Homeowner Bill of Rights 

(“HBOR”).  Specifically, plaintiffs allege that defendant violated Civil Code section 2923.7, 

which requires a servicer to appoint a “single point of contact” for the discussion of loss 

mitigation options.  The Court grants summary adjudication of these two causes of action 

in defendant’s favor. 

  B-1. Plaintiffs’ Status As “Borrowers” 

 Defendant argues that plaintiffs are not “borrowers,” as that term is defined under HBOR.  

Section 2920.5 of the Civil Code provides in pertinent part as follows: 

(2) For purposes of the sections listed in paragraph (1), “borrower” shall not 
include any of the following: 

 
(A) An individual who has surrendered the secured property 

as evidenced by either [1] a letter confirming the surrender or 
[2] delivery of the keys to the property to the mortgagee, trustee, 
beneficiary, or authorized agent. 

 [Bracketed numbers added.] 
 
 … 
 

(C) An individual who has filed a case under Chapter 7, 11, 12, or 13 
of Title 11 of the United States Code and the bankruptcy court has 
not entered an order closing or dismissing the bankruptcy case, or 
granting relief from a stay of foreclosure. 
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(Civ. Code, § 2920.5, subd. (c).) 

 Defendant argues that plaintiffs are not borrowers because they “surrendered”  the 

subject residence in their Chapter 13 bankruptcy.  Defendant adverts to a provision in plaintiffs’ 

Chapter 13 plan providing that, upon confirmation of the plan, the automatic stay would be lifted 

as to the residence: 

2.06. Class 3: All secured claims for which the collateral is being 

surrendered.  Upon confirmation of this plan, the automatic stay is modified to 

allow a Class 3 secured claim holder to exercise its rights against its collateral. 

(Defendant’s Exhibit 1-“I”, p. 2 [Chapter 13 plan, ¶ 2.06].)  Plaintiffs’ Chapter 13 plan was 

confirmed on October 21, 2016, thereby lifting the automatic stay and leaving defendant free to 

foreclose.  (Defendant’s Exhibit 1-“J”.) 

 Defendant’s argument lacks merit.  The word “surrendered” as used in the Chapter 13 

plan means something different than it means under HBOR. 

Subdivision (c)2(A) of Civil Code section 2920.5, quoted above, designates two ways 

that secured property can be “surrendered” under HBOR: the delivery of a letter, or the delivery 

of keys.  When property is surrendered in this manner, the borrower is not just giving up the 

protection of the automatic stay; rather, the borrower is giving up any claim to the property. 

Defendant offers no evidence that either of these two statutory options was employed in 

the case at bar.  Further, reading subdivision (c)2(A) in harmony with subdivision (c)2(C), it is 

apparent that once the automatic stay was lifted on October 21, 2016, plaintiffs were again 

“borrowers” under HBOR. 

The Court does not find persuasive the Razzak decision cited by defendant.  

(See, Razzak v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (N.D.Cal. Mar. 28, 2018, No. 17-cv-04939-MMC) 

2018 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 52251, at *11-12.)  By surrendering the residence in their Chapter 13 plan, 

plaintiffs were giving up the right to cure their mortgage loan arrearages through the plan.  

However, that cannot reasonably be construed as also giving up the right to seek a loan 

modification under HBOR. 

  B-2. The Alleged HBOR Violation Is No Longer “Material.” 

 In his opening declaration, Michael Baker alleges as follows: 

9. On May 20, 2018, our office provided CMI’s forms and instructions to 
submit an application for a loan modification to the Khuranas’ counsel via 
email.  A true and correct copy of that May 10, 2018 email to the 
Khuranas’ counsel is attached hereto as Exhibit O.  On October 19, 
2018, our office provided CMI’s forms and instructions to submit an 
application for a loan modification to the Khuranas’ counsel via email.  
A true and correct copy of that October 19, 2018 email to the Khuranas’ 
counsel is attached hereto as Exhibit P.  As of the date of this 
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Declaration our office has not received documents from the Khuranas’ 
counsel or the Khuranas pertaining to a new application for a loan 
modification.  I am informed and believe that no other representative of 
CMI has received documents from the Khuranas’ counsel or the 
Khuranas pertaining to a new application for a loan modification during 
the time that this lawsuit has been pending. 

 
(Defendant’s Exhibit 2, p. 3.  See also, plaintiffs’ response to Fact No. 87 [“Undisputed”].)  

The Court notes that plaintiffs’ failure to provide defendant with an updated application for a loan 

modification disregarded the express direction of the Court at the October 16, 2018 settlement 

conference: “Defendant shall get the loan modification papers by Friday October 19, 2018.”  

(Minute Order dated 10-16-18.) 

 Because no foreclosure sale has yet taken place, plaintiffs were entitled only to an 

injunction of sufficient length to allow defendant to cure the alleged HBOR violation: 

(a)  
(1) If a trustee’s deed upon sale has not been recorded, a borrower 

may bring an action for injunctive relief to enjoin a material 
violation [emphasis added] of Section 2923.55, 2923.6, 2923.7, 
2924.9, 2924.10, 2924.11, or 2924.17. 

 
(2) Any injunction shall remain in place and any trustee’s sale shall be 

enjoined until the court determines that the mortgage servicer, 
mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent has corrected 
and remedied the violation or violations giving rise to the action for 
injunctive relief.  An enjoined entity may move to dissolve an 
injunction based on a showing that the material violation has been 
corrected and remedied. 

 
(Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (a).)  Once the asserted HBOR violation is cured, the servicer 

faces no further liability: 

(c) A mortgage servicer, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent 
shall not be liable for any violation that it has corrected and remedied prior 
to the recordation of the trustee’s deed upon sale, or that has been 
corrected and remedied by third parties working on its behalf prior to the 
recordation of the trustee’s deed upon sale. 

 
(Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (c).) 

 In the case at bar, the alleged HBOR violation was defendant’s failure to postpone a 

trustee’s sale in the face of defendant’s last minute application for a loan modification, made 

only a few days before the trustee’s sale.  Plaintiffs have had three years since this litigation was 

commenced to submit an updated application showing that they have sufficient income 

to support a viable loan modification.  They have failed to do so, despite two offers by defendant 
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to consider such an application and an express direction from the Court that plaintiffs submit 

such an application. 

 It is apparent that plaintiffs know any updated application would likely be denied, 

because their financial circumstances have not in fact materially improved, and that they are 

simply drawing this litigation out so that they may stay in their home indefinitely without making 

payments.  This fact pattern is analogous to that in the Gilles decision, where the Court of 

Appeal summarized the situation as follows: 

Nonpayment of the mortgage for approximately eight years while the borrower 

remains in possession is an egregious abuse.  Respondent argued, and the trial 

court agreed, that appellant is “gaming the system.”  The game is over. 

(Gillies v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 907, 909.)  Whether one views 

plaintiffs’ refusal to submit an updated application for a loan modification under the rubric of 

waiver, estoppel, or the original HBOR violation no longer being a “material” violation, defendant 

is entitled to summary adjudication of plaintiffs’ two HBOR causes of action. 

 C. The Third Cause of Action. 

 The Third Cause of Action is for negligence per se.  Plaintiffs predicate this negligence 

cause of action on the earlier-alleged violations of Civil Code section 2923.7.  The Court finds 

that this cause of action fails to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for two, fully 

independent reasons. 

First, while there is a split in authority, the Court agrees with those decisions holding that 

a loan servicer does not generally owe the borrower a duty of care in the nonjudicial foreclosure 

context.  (See, Sheen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 346, 351-358.)  The 

Court finds these decisions more persuasive because every conceivable aspect of the 

nonjudicial foreclosure process in California is intensely regulated by comprehensive statutory 

schemes, including, but not limited to, HBOR.  (See, Civ. Code, § 2920, et seq.)  There are also 

federal statutory schemes that sometimes come into play, such as that invoked in the Fourth 

Cause of Action: the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”).  Under plaintiffs’ 

negligence theory, a lender could scrupulously comply with all applicable state and federal 

statutes and their corresponding regulations, down to the finest detail, and still find itself liable to 

the borrower under a nebulous and inherently speculative negligence theory.  Absent a 

California Supreme Court decision favoring the Alvarez line of cases on which plaintiffs rely, 

the Court declines to recognize such a theory.   

The second reason this cause of action is invalid is that allowing a cause of action for 

negligence based on a remediable HBOR violation would constitute an ‘end run’ around the safe 

harbor provision in the HBOR remedies statute.  (Civ. Code, § 2924.12, subd. (c) [a loan 

servicer “shall not be liable for any violation that it has corrected and remedied prior to the 

recordation of the trustee’s deed upon sale”].) 
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Leave to amend is denied because the Court sees no likelihood that these  fundamental 

pleading defects could be cured through amendment. 

 D. The Fourth Cause of Action. 

 The Fourth Cause of Action is for negligence per se.  Plaintiffs predicate this negligence 

cause of action on an alleged violation of 12 C.F.R. section 1024.40, a regulation promulgated 

under RESPA.  The Court finds that this cause of action fails to state facts sufficient to constitute 

a cause of action for three, fully independent reasons. 

First, as noted above, the Court agrees with those decisions holding that a loan servicer 

does not generally owe the borrower a duty of care in the nonjudicial foreclosure context.  (See, 

Sheen, supra, 38 Cal.App.5th at 351-358.)  Second, as stated above in the Court’s ruling on the 

Third Cause of Action, allowing a cause of action for negligence based on what is functionally 

still a remediable HBOR violation would constitute an ‘end run’ around the safe harbor provision 

in the HBOR remedies statute.  Third, 2 C.F.R. section 1024.40 does not give rise to a private 

right of action.  (See, Moody v. PennyMac Loan Servs., LLC (D.N.H. March 27, 2018) 2018 

U.S.Dist.LEXIS 55322, *26-27, and cases there cited.) 

Leave to amend is denied because the Court sees no likelihood that these fundamental 

pleading defects could be cured through amendment. 

E. The Fifth Cause of Action. 

The Fifth Cause of Action is for violation of the Unfair Competition Law.  (See, Bus. & 

Prof. Code, § 17200, et seq.)  This cause of action is derivative of the earlier causes of action, 

and falls with them. 

 F. Evidentiary Matters. 

 Defendant’s request for judicial notice is granted. 

 The Court rules as follows on plaintiffs’ evidentiary objections” 

  Declaration of Tiffany DeClue 

No. 1: Moot, because plaintiffs do not dispute that defendant is 

“the relevant servicer.”  (Response to Fact No. 6.) 

No. 2: Overruled. 

No. 3: Overruled. 

No. 4: Overruled, because the business records exception applies. 

No. 5: Sustained as to the declarant’s characterization that plaintiffs’ 

application for a loan modification was not a “complete” application 

within the meaning of HBOR; this is an improper legal conclusion.  
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Overruled as to the allegation that the application did not include 

all documents that had been requested. 

No. 6: Overruled. 

No. 7: Moot, because the subject evidence is offered in support of a fact 

that plaintiffs do not dispute, and also because plaintiffs have not 

objected to the corresponding allegation in the Declaration of 

Michael Baker.  (Response to Fact No. 87; defendant’s Exhibit 2, 

p. 3, ¶ 9.) 

 The Court rules as follows on defendant’s evidentiary objections: 

Declaration of Anita Khurana 

No. 1: Sustained.  Characterizing defendant’s actions as “misconduct” is 

argumentative and constitutes an improper legal conclusion. 

No. 2: Overruled.  Going from part-time work to full-time work might 

constitute a material change in financial circumstances that would 

obligate defendant to consider a renewed application for a loan 

modification. 

No. 3: Overruled.  The phrase “all applicable items” can only be 

interpreted as referring to the items listed in the previous 

paragraph.  And the Court does not find a stark contrast with prior 

discovery responses. 

No. 4: Sustained, as hearsay. 

No. 5: Sustained as to the declarant’s characterization that plaintiffs’ 

application for a loan modification was a “complete” application 

within the meaning of HBOR; this is an improper legal conclusion. 

No. 6: Overruled.  The declarant is describing her state of mind; in the 

face of the lack of contact with Mr. Blume and the imminence of 

the January 4 date for the trustee’s sale, the declarant felt that she 

had no choice but to file for a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. 

Declaration of Mahesh Khurana 

No. 1: Sustained.  Characterizing defendant’s actions as “misconduct” is 

argumentative and constitutes an improper legal conclusion. 

No. 2: Sustained, as hearsay. 

No. 3: Overruled.  The phrase “all applicable items” can only be 

interpreted as referring to the items listed in the previous 
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paragraph.  And the Court does not find a stark contrast with prior 

discovery responses. 

No. 4: Sustained, as hearsay. 

No. 5: Sustained as to the declarant’s characterization that plaintiffs’ 

application for a loan modification was a “complete” application 

within the meaning of HBOR; this is an improper legal conclusion. 

No. 6: Overruled.  The declarant is describing his state of mind; in the 

face of the lack of contact with Mr. Blume and the imminence of 

the January 4 date for the trustee’s sale, the declarant felt that his 

wife had no choice but to file for a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. 

Defendant’s counsel are advised that evidentiary objections should be numbered consecutively 
throughout, for ease of reference, rather than restarting at “1” for each item of evidence. 

 

  

  2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00218 
CASE NAME: CMG MORTGAGE VS. WEST ONE CAPITAL 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR ORDER TO SET ASIDE FINAL STATEMENT AND DECISION 
FILED BY WEST ONE CAPITAL GROUP, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued on Court’s motion to March 12, 2020 at 9:00 AM in Dept. 33. 

 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00528 
CASE NAME: ROCHA VS. SNYDER 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY JOYCE ROCHA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00693 
CASE NAME: JOSE GUTIERREZ VS. ROBERT DE VRIES 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC18-00693 
CASE NAME: JOSE GUTIERREZ VS. ROBERT DE VRIES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

In this consolidated action, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) moves 
for summary judgment or, alternatively, for summary adjudication of issues, to the separately 
filed complaints of plaintiffs Jose Gutierrez, Christina Gutierrez and Christopher Gutierrez (the 
Gutierrez plaintiffs) and plaintiffs Markeisha Brown and Marquise Wilkins (the Brown plaintiffs). 
Both complaints allege injuries to the plaintiffs resulting from a fence owned and maintained 
by Caltrans.  

Code of Civil Procedure section 437c(c) provides, in relevant part: “The motion for 
summary judgment shall be granted if all the papers submitted show that there is no triable 
issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter 
of law.” 

Based on the papers submitted, it appears to the satisfaction of the Court that the 
moving party has satisfied its burden to show a lack of dispute as to any material fact, thereby 
shifting the burden to the plaintiffs to demonstrate the existence of triable issues of fact. Their 
opposition papers have not done so. 

Caltrans’ motion for summary judgment is granted. 

Factual Background 

On March 27, 2017, Gutierrez plaintiffs were traveling eastbound on State Route 4 when 
their vehicle struck a bull that had wandered into the highway.  (Caltrans Statement of 
Undisputed Material Facts, hereinafter “SSUMF,” Fact No. 3).  Later, Brown plaintiffs’ vehicle 
also struck the animal.  (SSUMF, Fact No.4).  The animal was owned by co-defendant Robert 
De Vries.  (SSUMF, Fact No. 7)  De Vries was the lessor of property adjacent to the roadway 
and kept cattle on that property.  (Declaration of De Vries, Exhibit 6 to Gutierrez Statement of 
Evidence in Opposition to Motion, ¶¶ 1-2.)   

Plaintiffs allege Defendant De Vries’ bull had escaped onto the roadway through fencing 
that was constructed by, and belonged to, Caltrans.  They allege the fencing was in disrepair 
because Caltrans failed to maintain it.  (Brown FAC, ¶18-20; Gutierrez FAC, ¶4; 16.) 

Procedural History 

Gutierrez plaintiffs filed their original complaint against Caltrans and De Vries on April 6, 
2018.  No demurrer was filed, but pursuant to stipulation, a first amended complaint (“FAC”) was 
filed on July 11, 2018.  The FAC set forth five causes of action: (1) negligence against Robert 
De Vries; (2) negligence of Caltrans employees under Government Code section 815.2; (3) 
negligence of Caltrans’ independent contractors under Government Code section 815.4; (4) 
negligence of Caltrans employees under Government Code section 820, and; (5) negligently 
caused property damage for the vehicle of plaintiff Jose Gutierrez.  As a basis for the second, 
third and fourth causes of action, the FAC alleges that Caltrans, and its employees or 
independent contractors, “owed a duty of care to build, repair, own, manage, and maintain the 
said livestock fence [. . .] so as to prevent livestock and the said bull from escaping through the 
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fence” and that they “breached this duty by so carelessly building, constructing, owning, 
repairing, maintain and managing the said livestock fence so as to proximately cause the 
livestock fence to be defective [. . .] and thereby allow said bull to escape through said fence 
and onto State Route 4 [. . ..]”  (Gutierrez FAC, ¶¶15-16, 21-22, 28-29.)  The fifth cause of action 
references “negligent entrustment” and appears to also rely on the existence of a duty and 
breach of duty.  (Gutierrez FAC, ¶¶35-37.) 

The Brown plaintiffs filed their original complaint on April 13, 2018.  Defendants 
demurred and the demurrer was granted with leave to amend as to the Brown plaintiffs’ 
negligence claim.  A second demurrer was later sustained without leave to amend, and the 
Brown complaint was left with only a single cause of action for premises liability against Caltrans 
(Dangerous Condition of Public Property) under Government Code section 835.  Like the 
Gutierrez plaintiffs, the Brown plaintiffs also allege that Caltrans’ failure to maintain the fence 
resulted in their damages.  (Brown FAC, ¶ 21).   

Pursuant to stipulation, the two cases were consolidated in February 2019.  Defendant 
De Vries has cross-complained against Caltrans.   

Motion Summary 

Caltrans moves for summary judgment or, in the alternative, summary adjudication, 
asserting four issues should be determined: 

Issue 1: As to Gutierrez plaintiffs’ second, third, fourth, and fifth causes of action, 
Caltrans owed no duty to control or fence in Mr. De Vries’ bull. 

Issue 2: As to the Gutierrez plaintiffs’ third cause of action, there is no basis for liability 
under Gov. Code section 815.4 as there is no evidence that independent contractors of 
Caltrans were involved in maintaining the right of way. 

Issue 3: The Brown Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim for a dangerous condition on 
public property because there is no evidence that Caltrans created the condition, or that 
Caltrans had sufficient notice of the condition prior to the accident. 

Issue 4: Caltrans is immune because it acted reasonably pursuant to Government Code 
section 835.4, which requires the reasonableness of an agency’s conduct to be 
measured by weighing the probability and gravity of injury against the cost of taking 
alternative action. 

(Notice of Motion 2:12-3:20.) 

In its moving papers, Caltrans argues that neither set of plaintiffs can set forth any 
evidence of causation or a dangerous condition (9:10-10:12, 12:26-15:4), that neither set of 
plaintiffs can set forth any evidence of duty or notice (5:28-8:21, 15:5-16:26), and that even if 
plaintiffs could produce such evidence, Caltrans has established the affirmative defense set 
forth in Government Code §835.4, providing immunity for a public entity when that entity has 
acted reasonably. 

Caltrans submits declarations of two employees, Glenn Wakefield, the Caltrans 
Maintenance Manager of the area in question, and Thomas Kwok, P.E., a senior transportation 
engineer in the office of traffic safety.  (Caltrans Statement of Evidence, Exs. B-C.)   
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Mr. Wakefield attaches an excerpt from the Caltrans Maintenance Manual (Caltrans 
Statement of Evidence, Ex. G), which states that the Caltrans fences along state highways are 
not intended to serve as a complete physical barrier, or serve the needs of adjacent property 
owners, who must construct their own fences.  Mr. Wakefield provides an excerpt from the 
Caltrans Maintenance Manual that requires notification of property owners that they are required 
to construct their own livestock containment fencing, upon any request for Caltrans to maintain 
its fences.  He states he has personally advised many ranchers in the area of this obligation.  
Mr. Wakefield also attaches records showing the inspections and maintenance of fencing in the 
area, including an inspection just one week prior to the bull escaping.  (Caltrans Statement of 
Evidence, Ex. H.)   

In his declaration, Thomas Kwok attaches records of search results in a Caltrans 
accident database for accidents since March 2012 and March 2017 involving animals in the 
vicinity.  The reports show the two at issue in this case on March 27, 2017, as well as a third 
incident that occurred in May 2015.  (Caltrans Statement of Evidence, Ex. I.)   

Neither the Gutierrez Plaintiffs, nor the Brown Plaintiffs, object to Caltrans’ evidence. 

Gutierrez Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Motion 

In their opposition to the motion, Gutierrez plaintiffs rely on a theory of “negligent 
undertaking” under Paz v State of California (2000) 22 Cal 4th 550.  This is based on the notion 
that by either installing, repairing or maintaining the right of way fence along Highway 4, 
Caltrans undertook to render services to defendant De Vries, and was therefore bound to use 
reasonable care in the performance of the undertaking.   

The evidence submitted by Gutierrez plaintiffs includes a declaration by defendant De 
Vries in which defendant De Vries states that (1) there was a prior incident “in approximately 
October 2015” involving a deer in the highway after which Caltrans failed to properly repair the 
fence, (2) he relied on Caltrans’ fence to contain his cattle, and (3) Caltrans has never notified 
defendant De Vries of his need to contain his own cattle.  (Gutierrez Evidence in Opposition, Ex. 
6, Declaration of Robert De Vries,  ¶¶ 3-5.)  Mr. De Vries also submits a purported excerpt from 
Caltrans’ own installation guide for chain link fence requiring Caltrans to attach the fence to the 
tension wire at the bottom of the fence along the ground, claiming that Caltrans failed to do so.  
(Gutierrez Evidence in Opposition, Ex. 6, Declaration of Robert De Vries, ¶ 3.)  Gutierrez 
plaintiffs also submit responses to discovery by defendant De Vries, indicating that he blames 
Caltrans for the incident, and the cross-complaint against Caltrans filed by defendant De Vries.  
(Gutierrez Evidence in Opposition, Exs. 2-5.)   

Brown Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Motion 

In their opposition to the motion, Brown plaintiffs argue that the fence separating the 
travel lanes of Highway 4 from the adjacent property was in Caltrans’ control, and presented a 
dangerous condition by reason of Caltrans’ negligent repair following a prior deer incident in 
2014 or 2015, and that the bull’s escape itself is evidence that the repair was done negligently.  
(Brown Opposition, 3:18-5:14.)  Brown plaintiffs argue there is a triable issue of fact as to 
whether the Caltrans had notice of the condition of the fence.  They argue that a triable issue of 
fact exists as to whether Caltrans’ inspection of the fence actually occurred one week prior to 
the incident, as alleged by Caltrans, and if so, whether the inspection was done negligently.  
(Brown Opposition, 5:1-9.)  Brown plaintiffs cite Government Code sections 53050 and 53051, 
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but those sections define public agency and their responsibilities to register with the secretary of 
state and county, and are not relevant here.   

The only evidence Brown plaintiffs offer in opposition to the motion is a letter, apparently 
from a claims representative for De Vries’ insurer blaming Caltrans for damage to the fence as a 
result of a motor vehicle accident in “2014 or 2015.” 

Both the Gutierrez plaintiffs and the Brown plaintiffs claim to dispute the purpose of the 
fence (SSUMF, Fact Nos. 10-12, 15-17) and the extent to which Caltrans had notice of issues 
with the fence leading up to the time of the accidents (SSUMF, Fact Nos. 20, 23, 29.)  According 
to the Gutierrez plaintiffs’ response to Caltrans’ Separate Statement of Undisputed Material 
Facts, they also dispute whether Caltrans regularly inspects and repairs the fence in the area 
where the subject accidents occurred (SSUMF, Fact Nos. 18, 24), and whether Caltrans has 
sufficient personnel to constantly patrol the fence (SSUMF, Fact No. 19).  As to the same factual 
assertions by Caltrans (SSUMF, Fact Nos. 18, 19, 24), the Brown plaintiffs state they have 
insufficient information to respond. 

Evidentiary Objections 

1. Caltrans objects to Exhibit A attached to the Declaration of Robert De Vries, submitted 
by the Gutierrez Plaintiffs.  The objection is sustained based on lack of authentication and lack 
of foundation.  

2. Caltrans objects to the Brown Plaintiff’s Exhibit A, the letter from Mr. De Vries’ insurer, 
attached to the memorandum of Points and Authorities.  The objection is sustained based on 
lack of authentication and lack of foundation. 

Analysis 

A motion for summary judgment “shall be granted if all the papers submitted show that 
there is no triable issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a 
judgment as a matter of law.” (Code Civ. Proc. § 437c(c).) The party moving for summary 
judgment carries both the burden of persuasion and the burden of production of evidence. 
(Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield Co. (2001) 25 Cal.4th 826, 850.)  A defendant meets the burden of 
showing a cause of action has no merit by making a prima facie showing that one or more of its 
elements cannot be established – i.e., presenting affirmative evidence illustrating that plaintiff 
cannot prove an essential element – or by showing that there is a complete defense to the 
claim. (Ibid.; Code Civ. Proc. §437c(p)(2).)  “A prima facie showing is one that is sufficient to 
support the position of the party in question. [Citation.]"  (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at 851.)  

Once the initial burden is met, the burden shifts to the plaintiff to demonstrate the 
existence of a triable issue of material fact. (Laabs v. City of Victorville (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 
1242, 1250, citing Aguilar at pp. 850-851.)  The court must “consider all of the evidence” and all 
of the “inferences” reasonably drawn therefrom (CCP § 437c(c)) and must view the evidence 
and inferences “in the light most favorable to the opposing party.”  (Aguilar, supra, 25 Cal.4th at 
843.)  Finally, in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court does not weigh the 
evidence or make credibility determinations.  (See Binder v. Aetna Life Ins. Co. (1999) 75 
Cal.App.4th 832, 840.) 

Caltrans disputes the legal bases for each of the Gutierrez Plaintiffs’ causes of action, 
but never demurred to those causes of action.  It appears that none of the statutes cited by the 
Gutierrez plaintiffs would provide an independent basis for asserting a non-statutory negligence 
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claim against Caltrans.  The negligent undertaking doctrine is common law tort, which is an 
insufficient basis for imposition of liability on public entities since the enactment of Government 
Code section 815.  Direct tort liability must be based on a specific statute, not on general tort 
provisions.  (Tolan v. State of California ex rel Dept of Transportation (1979) 100 Cal App 3d 
980, 986.) 

Caltrans argues that even if a claim for dangerous condition of public property had been 
asserted by the Gutierrez plaintiffs, no issue of material fact can be shown by either set of 
plaintiffs with regard to that claim.  (Motion, .10:13-11:22.)  In any case, even if either set of 
plaintiffs had shown the required elements of their claims, Caltrans has introduced undisputed 
evidence as to its reasonableness defense.  (Motion, 17:1-18:20.) 

The Court agrees. 

No Dangerous Condition of Public Property 

Government Code §830 defines a “dangerous condition” of public property as a 
condition that “creates a substantial (as distinguished from a minor, trivial or insignificant) risk of 
injury when such property or adjacent property is used with due care in a manner in which it is 
reasonably foreseeable that it will be used.”   

Plaintiffs have set forth no evidence that the hole in the fence was the cause of the bull’s 
escape, only that the bull owner relied on the fence to contain the bull. Even if it were the cause, 
“[t]he 'dangerous condition' of the property should be defined in terms of the manner in which it 
is foreseeable that the property will be used by persons exercising due care in recognition that 
any property can be dangerous if used in a sufficiently abnormal manner."  (Fredette v. City of 
Long Beach (1986) 187 Cal.App.3d 122, 132, internal citation omitted.)  “Even though it is 
foreseeable that persons may use public property without due care, a public entity may not be 
held liable for failing to take precautions to protect such persons.”  (Ibid.)   

The fence here is to delineate Caltrans's right of way from adjacent private property.  
California Food & Agricultural Code §16902 places the duty to prevent livestock from straying 
upon a public highway on an owner of livestock.  The fencing maintained by Caltrans along the 
highway is not intended to operate as a complete physical barrier or to fence in cattle.  Caltrans’ 
evidence as to the intended purposes of the fence defeats the Brown plaintiffs’ argument that 
the bull’s escape is evidence, in and of itself, that the repair was done negligently.  The purpose 
of the fence was not to hold back bulls, and therefore a repair that failed to do so is not 
necessarily negligent.  (SSUMF, Fact Nos. 10-11.) 

Here, the undisputed facts show that Mr. De Vries, the owner of the bull, was leasing the 
property adjacent to the Caltrans right of way and had failed to properly construct his own fence 
to contain the bull, as required by the Food & Agricultural Code.  An owner who fails to 
reasonably contain his cattle would not be using the public property with due care.  Plaintiffs 
present no evidence to show that Mr. De Vries was acting with due care.   

Apparently the owner of the leased premises also failed to construct any fence to contain 
the animals being grazed there.  This failure to properly contain the animals does not make an 
adjacent property owner, in this case Caltrans, responsible for the damages caused by Mr. De 
Vries’ bull. 
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Caltrans Acted Reasonably  

Government Code section 835.4 establishes a special defense for a public entity to a 
dangerous condition claim.  Under that section, the reasonableness of the act or omission that 
created the condition shall be determined by weighing the probability and gravity of potential 
injury to persons and property foreseeably exposed to the risk of injury against the practicability 
and cost of taking alternative action that would not create the risk. 

Here, Caltrans has set forth evidence, to which plaintiffs do not object, that Caltrans 
regularly inspects the fence, and had inspected the fence just one week prior to the collisions 
involving the bull, but no issues had been noted.  (SSUMF Nos. 18-22.)  Further, Caltrans crews 
do not have sufficient personnel to constantly patrol the right of way fencing in the pertinent 
area.  (SSUMF No. 12.)  The Court finds these uncontroverted facts sufficient to establish 
Caltrans’ immunity defense pursuant to Government Code section 835.4. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01224 
CASE NAME: BERDIAGO VS. ESTATE OF PAGSUYUI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL INTERROGATORY RESPONSES 
FILED BY JANEL BERDIAGO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated per fax of counsel. 

 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01468 
CASE NAME: O'CONNELL  VS  CONTRA COSTA COUNTY 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY CONTRA COSTA COUNTY, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Defendants’ demurrer to plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) is sustained, with 
leave to amend.  Any amended complaint shall be filed and served on or before March 5, 2020. 
 

In essence, the facts presumed to be true at the time of the previous demurrer were that 
Sarah Dell O’Connell died on February 15, 2018 because Dr. Buck, an employee of the 
County’s Regional Medical Center, failed to tell her during an emergency room encounter on 
February 7, 2018, that she had a serious heart condition that required hospitalization and/or a 
cardiac consultation.  Further, plaintiffs, who are the husband and minor son of Sarah, claimed 
they did not have sufficient knowledge or suspicion for the statute of limitations to start to run 
until August 27, 2018.  Plaintiffs then presented a government claim on February 27, 2019, 
within six months of the date of this August 27, 2018 discovery.  Plaintiffs filed their current 
action on July 25, 2019, more than one year after Sarah’s death, but within six months of denial 
or rejection of their government claim. 
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The court sustained the County’s demurrer but allowed leave to amend.  The court noted 
the key issue was “when between the date of death on February 15, 2018 and the date of 
certainty on August 27, 2018 did plaintiffs have the required suspicion of a wrongfully caused 
death?”  The County claimed there was sufficient suspicion on “March 3, 2018, when 
unspecified ‘relatives’ of Sarah consulted with plaintiffs’ current attorney and asked him to obtain 
her medical records.”  However, the court went on to note, “The problem with this is that 
relatives is not the same thing as plaintiffs.  The materials that the court may consider on this 
demurrer do not specify whether plaintiff’s husband, Daniel, or her minor son from a prior 
relationship, Justin, were present at this meeting.  And the court has no facts or legal briefing 
before it to show that any knowledge or suspicion of these relatives is attributable to plaintiffs or 
that these relatives were proper wrongful death plaintiffs.” 

 
The court went on to note other information that would also be necessary:    

 
[T]here is both a subjective and an objective component to 
suspicion.  For accrual to be delayed it must be true both that the 
plaintiff did not suspect that someone had done something wrong 
to cause the death and that a reasonable person would not have 
suspected that either.  (See Kitzig v. Nordquist (2000) 81 Cal. App. 
4th 1384, 1391.)   
 
. . . Daniel must clearly allege both things – he did not have the 
requisite suspicion before August 27, 2018 and a reasonable 
person would not have had it either.  In addition, there are enough 
questions about the date of suspicion here that Daniel must allege 
whether he was at the meeting with the attorney on March 3, 
2018, and whether he suspected medical malpractice either 
immediately before or after that meeting.   
 
. . . 
 
The situation regarding the minor plaintiff, Justin, is that much 
more complicated.  The facts that the court may consider on this 
demurrer show that Daniel was not Justin’s father.  They do not 
show that he was Justin’s legal guardian after Sarah’s death; who, 
if anyone, was; or whether any such guardian suspected a 
wrongfully caused death between the date of death and August 
27, 2018.   
 
. . . Justin will need to provide additional explanation why he could 
not have discovered the injury before August 27, 2018, including 
whether he was at the March 3, 2018 attorney consultation; what 
he suspected, if anything, before and after that meeting; whether 
anyone was his legal guardian after February 15, 2018 and before 
August 27, 2018; and what that person knew or suspected in that 
time frame. 
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The court now clarifies the statements in this last paragraph.  Because Justin was only 
eleven years old at the time of the pertinent events, the issue as to him is what his legal 
guardian knew and suspected and whether that guardian was present at the March 3, 2018 
attorney consultation.  (Whitfield v. Roth (1974) 10 Cal.3d 874, 885.)   
 

In the FAC, plaintiffs attempt to address the concerns raised in the court’s ruling on the 
previous demurrer.  The biggest change made in the FAC is the addition of a new paragraph 27, 
which alleges that Sarah’s mother, Michelle, consulted with the attorney, Mr. Davidson, in early 
March 2018 because Sarah died so noon after she had been seen by Dr. Buck.  Also, Michelle 
did not understand how her daughter had died of a heart condition about which she had no prior 
knowledge.  Michelle did not inform Daniel or Justin’s guardian, Brian Dell (Michelle’s son and 
Sarah’s brother) about this meeting with the attorney because she believed that Daniel, Brian, 
and Justin were fully occupied adjusting to daily life without Sarah and did not need to be 
burdened with additional concerns.  (¶ 27.)  Michelle’s only communication with Daniel or Brian 
was to request Daniel’s signature on medical record release forms in March 2018. (¶ 28.)   

 
In June-July 2018, Michelle received the medical records and sought Davidson’s advice 

as to how to continue the investigation into Sarah’s death.  (¶ 29.)  On August 27, 2018, 
Michelle learned that on February 7, 2018 during the emergency room evaluation defendants 
failed to advise Sarah or the family members present that Sarah presented with a heart 
condition which should have resulted in a hospital admission and further evaluation and that 
with proper treatment, Sarah could have avoided her heart attack.  Michelle then advised 
Davidson to meet with Daniel and Brian.  That meeting occurred on September 1, 2018. During 
it, Brian and Daniel hired Davidson to bring a lawsuit against defendants.  (¶ 31.) 

 
These allegations sufficiently allege that only Michelle was present at the consultation 

with Davidson in early March 2018.  Further, when a married woman dies, leaving a husband 
and a child, the woman’s mother is not a proper wrongful death plaintiff.  (See Prob. C. § 6402 
(a), (b).)  Therefore, these allegations do not disclose a basis on which to charge Daniel and 
Brian with any suspicions that Michelle harbored then.   

 
However, the new allegations in paragraphs 27, 28, 29, 30, and 31 do not address all of 

the court’s concerns, and some edits related to them actually take the pleading back a step. 
 

In focusing on what Michelle knew and suspected, the amended complaint fails to 
affirmatively allege when Daniel and Justin (through his guardian), first suspected wrongdoing.  
Paragraph 29 in the original complaint alleged that Daniel and Justin did not have sufficient 
information to suspect wrongdoing until they were told about the opinion of the medical expert.  
When plaintiffs amended that paragraph (which now appears in paragraph 31 of the FAC), they 
alleged instead what Michelle learned on August 27, 2018 from the expert.  But this removed 
any affirmative allegation of when Daniel and Justin first suspected wrongdoing.    

 
Fox states,  
 

In order to rely on the discovery rule for delayed accrual of a 
cause of action, “[a] plaintiff whose complaint shows on its face 
that his claim would be barred without the benefit of the discovery 
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rule must specifically must specifically plead facts to show (1) the 
time and manner of discovery and (2) the inability to have made 
earlier discovery despite reasonable diligence.” [Citation.]  In 
assessing the sufficiency of the allegations of delayed discovery, 
the court places the burden on the plaintiff to “show diligence”; 
“conclusory allegations will not withstand demurrer.”  (Fox, supra, 
35 Cal.4th at 808.) 

 
 The court recognizes that this involves far more detailed pleading than is ordinarily 
required in negligence cases, but Fox specifically requires such detail when a plaintiff claims 
delayed discovery of a cause of action. In light of Fox, the court is unwilling to draw favorable 
inferences for plaintiffs.  They need to specifically allege when each of them first suspected 
wrongdoing, why they did not suspect it earlier, and, as to Justin, who his various guardians 
were between Sarah’s death and August 27, 2018, and when and how those persons came to 
occupy that role. 
 

Further, the FAC fails to explain what Daniel thought when Michelle asked him to sign a 
medical authorization and why he did not suspect wrongdoing then.  

 
However, the court is not troubled by the omissions except to the extent that they create 

new holes in the pleading.  The omissions do not violate the sham pleading rule.  That rule 
requires the pleader to explain the omission of material fatal to his claim.  (See Deveny v. 
Entropin, Inc. (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 408, 425-426.)  Here, the material omitted was supportive 
of the delayed discovery claim. 

 
Defendants argue that the court should not permit this case to get past the pleading 

stage based on the allegations that only Michelle, and not Daniel and Brian, had a suspicion of 
wrongdoing because “The law is not designed so that a third party can conduct a shadow 
investigation in order to preserve the maximum statute of limitations for any potential plaintiffs.”  
(Opening Brief at 12:18-20.)  Defendants cite no authority for this proposition.  Nevertheless, the 
court agrees that artful allegations that only those members who lack standing to sue had the 
requisite suspicion of wrongdoing will not ultimately delay discovery if proven false.  They are 
presumed true on a demurrer, however.  (Del E. Webb v. Structural Materials Co. (1981) 123 
Cal.Appl.3d 593, 604.)  Therefore, if plaintiffs successfully address the court’s other remaining 
concerns, any doubt about the truthfulness of those allegations will have to be resolved through 
summary judgment or trial. 

 
Defendants also argue it is enough to trigger accrual of the cause of action that someone 

– Michelle – suspected enough to request medical records in March 2018.  The court disagrees.  
If plaintiffs plead they did not have the requisite suspicion then and if they are not chargeable 
with Michelle’s suspicions because she is not their agent or a proper wrongful death plaintiff, the 
issue is whether the facts pleaded show as a matter of law that a reasonable person would have 
suspected wrongdoing, not whether Michelle did.  Michelle may have been more or less 
suspicious than a reasonable person. 
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 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01604 
CASE NAME: CALIFORNIA BANK VS. NORTHERN PACIFIC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY BRADLEY KOEBERER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01604 
CASE NAME: CALIFORNIA BANK VS. NORTHERN PACIFIC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY NORTHERN PACIFIC CORPORATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01604 
CASE NAME: CALIFORNIA BANK VS. NORTHERN PACIFIC 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY NANCY KOEBERER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-01623 
CASE NAME: STAMM ENTERPRISES  VS.  BH PROPERTIES 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BH PROPERTIES MANAGEMENT, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Defendants BH Properties Management, Inc., et al.’s demurrer to the First Amended 
Complaint is sustained with leave to amend. 
 
 Plaintiff shall file and serve any amended complaint on or before March 12, 2020. 
 
 
Background 
 
 This case involves a family business originally established in 1948 to operate the historic 
Stamm Theatre in Antioch.  Over time, the business grew and changed into a real estate 
ownership, management and development company.  George Stamm (“George I”) left the 
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business to his children, George II and Mary Ann Balocco.  This created two factions of owners, 
Plaintiffs (Stamm Family) and Defendants (Balocco Family.) 
 
  On February 17, 2017, the Stamm Plaintiffs filed a complaint to enforce the January 9, 
2017 Agreement. In May of 2018, various agreements were signed, addressing the outstanding 
issues on division of the business entities, division of non-real-estate assets, division of debt 
obligations, and handling of taxes.   
 
  On August 20, 2018, the Stamm Plaintiffs dismissed their complaint, believing the 
issues were resolved.  Six of the May 2018 agreements were Tenancy in Common Agreements.  
The Balocco Defendants would manage 4 of the real properties and distribute to the Stamms 
their share of the profits. The Stamms would receive rents on the remaining two properties and 
distribute to the Baloccos.   From May 2018 to February 2019, the Baloccos refused to provide 
the Stamms’ share of the rents. Other disputes arose, which led Plaintiffs to filing this action. 
 
 
Demurrer 
 
 Defendants demur to 7th C/A (Equitable Relief from Dismissal) and the 8th C/A 
on the grounds the allegations do not state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action.  
(CCP § 430.10(e).) 
 
 The limited role of a demurrer is to test the legal sufficiency of a complaint. It raises 
issues of law, not fact, regarding the form or content of the opposing party's pleading.  
(Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 994.)  For purposes of a 
demurrer, all properly pleaded facts are admitted as true. (Aubry v. Tri-City Hospital Dist. (1992) 
2 Cal.4th 962, 967.)  On demurrer the complaint must be liberally construed with a view to 
substantial justice between the parties. (Code Civ. Proc., § 452.) A demurrer lies only for defects 
appearing on the face of the complaint or from matters of which the court must or may take 
judicial notice. (Code Civ. Proc., § 430.40; see Blank v. Kirwan (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.) On 
demurrer the allegations of the complaint are assumed to be true. (Adelman v. Associated Int'l 
Ins. Co. (2001) 90 Cal.App.4th 352, 359.) “A demurrer is simply not the appropriate procedure 
for determining the truth of disputed facts.”  (Ramsden v. Western Union (1977) 71 Cal.App.3d 
873, 879.) 
 
 
7th C/A (Equitable Relief from Dismissal) 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the Seventh Cause of Action for Equitable Relief from Dismissal 
is sustained with leave to amend. 
   
 Plaintiffs allege that as result of the deceptions and false promises of compromise, 
Plaintiffs were induced to release their lawsuit against Defendants in Contra Costa County Case 
No. MSC17-00298.  Plaintiffs dismissed the case on August 20, 2018, with prejudice. 
 
 Defendants argue the Seventh cause of action fails for two reasons.  First, this type of 
relief is limited to defendants. Defendants argue that Plaintiffs allege a cause of action based on 
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extrinsic fraud, but “such a cause of action arises only when a defendant has been denied a fair 
hearing and kept in ignorance of the action of from presenting a defense.”  (Demurrer, 2:17-18.)     
Secondly, Defendants argue Plaintiffs allege, at most, intrinsic fraud, rather than extrinsic fraud. 
Intrinsic fraud is not a valid ground for setting aside a judgment when the party has been given 
notice of the action and has had an opportunity to present his case. (See Rodriguez v. Cho 
(2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 742, 750.)   
  
 For the reasons below the demurrer is sustained.  Here, Plaintiffs allege at ¶92, that they 
relied on false statements leading up to the May 2018 Agreement and relied Defendants’ 
executions of the May 2018 Agreements.  Plaintiffs were induced to perform including 
dismissing the lawsuit.  In ¶125 of the FAC, Plaintiffs allege that as result of the deceptions and 
false promises of compromise, Plaintiffs were induced to release the lawsuit against 
Defendants.  Plaintiff argues that all fraud in this case was extrinsic because none of it occurred 
in court.  The false promises of compromise were all made out of court. 
 
  Plaintiff’s voluntary dismissal may be set aside if extrinsic fraud is shown.  In Heyman v. 
Franchise Mortgage Acceptance Corp. (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 921, 925, the plaintiff voluntarily 
dismissed the complaint, as did the Plaintiff here. The court stated the issue presented was a 
narrow one: “All agree that Heyman's voluntary dismissal of his 1992 action operates as an 
absolute bar to the present litigation unless Heyman can establish that dismissal was obtained 
through extrinsic as opposed to intrinsic fraud.” (Heyman v. Franchise Mortgage Acceptance 
Corp. (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 921, 925.)  
 
 "Extrinsic fraud occurs when a party is deprived of his opportunity to present his claim or 
defense to the court…”  (Heyman v. Franchise Mortgage Acceptance Corp. (2003) 107 
Cal.App.4th 921, 923.)  By definition, equitable relief based on extrinsic fraud is not limited to 
defendants.  "The seminal definition of extrinsic fraud is found in United States v. Throckmorton 
(1878) 98 U.S. 61, 65-66: 'Where the unsuccessful party has been prevented from exhibiting 
fully his case, by fraud or deception practised on him by his opponent, as by keeping him away 
from court, a false promise of a compromise; or where the defendant never had knowledge of 
the suit, being kept in ignorance by the acts of the plaintiff…”  (Lazzarone v. Bank of Am. (1986) 
181 Cal.App.3d 581, 596.)   
 
 Here, Defendants have argued that at most, the First Amended Complaint alleges 
intrinsic fraud. In the Reply, Defendants argue that nowhere does the FAC alleges any conduct 
by Defendants which prevented Plaintiffs from having their day in court.  “Extrinsic fraud is a 
broad concept that tends to encompass almost any set of extrinsic circumstances which deprive 
a party of a fair adversary hearing.” (Estate of Beard (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 753, 774-775. 
“Extrinsic fraud includes a false promise of compromise that induces a party to act or refrain 
from acting in such a way as to deprive that party of a fair opportunity to litigate his or her case. 
[Citations.]  A finding of extrinsic fraud does not require that a party actually be physically 
prevented from appearing at a conference or hearing, as long as the fraudulent promise to settle 
or drop a litigated matter causes the party to forego an opportunity to prosecute or contest a 
case, or to be deprived of a fair hearing.” (Ibid.) 
 
 In support of the Opposition, Plaintiffs points to ¶¶ 77-85; 89; and 91.  Plaintiffs argue 
these allegations explain how the Defendants’ promises of comprise were false and induced 
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Plaintiffs to dismiss the complaint.  Plaintiffs believe the allegations are sufficient to state a 
cause of action for equitable relief.  The allegations appear to be intrinsic fraud.  “Intrinsic fraud 
or mistake… is not grounds for relief. When the fraud or mistake ‘goes to the merits of the prior 
proceedings, which should have been guarded against by the plaintiff at that time,’ relief is 
denied in deference to the stronger policies of finality of judgments and res judicata.”  (In re 
Marriage of Wipson (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 136, 141-142.)   Usually when a party is represented 
by counsel and has the opportunity to appear and litigate his case, any fraud or mistake 
occurring in the proceeding is considered intrinsic. (Ibid.) 
 
  Moreover, Defendants argue that although Plaintiffs allege Defendants had no intention 
to perform under the compromise, the evidence attached to the FAC is inconsistent with these 
allegations. Plaintiffs have alleged Defendants executed the agreements, and fully performed 
the Amendment.  Plaintiff has not alleged extrinsic fraud based on false promise to compromise 
because the allegations show the Defendants actually entered into the comprise agreements.  
   
 
8th C/A—Rescission of Agreements  
 
 Plaintiffs alleged that on or about January 9, 2017, the parties entered into a written 
Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement (Exhibit 1 to FAC).  On or about May 25, 2018, the 
parties entered into an Amendment to Mutual Release and Settlement Agreement Dated 
January 9, 2017 (Exhibit 6 to FAC).  Plaintiffs allege the consent of Plaintiffs for the execution of 
both the Agreement and Amendment was obtained by fraudulent statements and acts by the 
Defendants. Plaintiffs alleges the agreements were the product of false promises and equity 
requires rescission. The circumstances that entitle a party to rescind are set forth in Civil Code 
section 1689: 
 

Subdivision (b) provides that a contracting party may unilaterally rescind the 
contract if (1) ‘the consent of the party rescinding … was given by mistake, or 
obtained through duress, menace, fraud, or undue influence, exercised by or with 
the connivance of the party as to whom he rescinds, or of any other party to the 
contract jointly interested with such party,’ (2) ‘the consideration for the obligation 
of the rescinding party fails, in whole or in part, through the fault of the party as to 
whom he rescinds,’ (3) ‘the consideration for the obligation of the rescinding party 
becomes entirely void from any cause,’ (4) ‘the consideration for the obligation of 
the rescinding party, before it is rendered to him, fails in a material respect from 
any cause,’ (5) ‘the contract is unlawful for causes which do not appear in its 
terms or conditions, and the parties are not equally at fault,’ or (6) ‘the public 
interest will be prejudiced by permitting the contract to stand.” (Civ. Code, § 
1689, subd. (b).) 
 

(Marzec v. Public Employees’ Retirement System (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 889, 914.)    
  
 Defendants argue the FAC fails to allege any statutory basis for rescission.  The FAC 
fails to allege Plaintiffs provided any prompt notice to Defendants of their intent to rescind or any 
offer to restore any monies to Defendants.  
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 Plaintiffs argue that “When nothing of value has been received it is well settled that it is 
unnecessary to allege or prove an offer to return everything of value….” (Browne v. T. J. 
Lawrence Co. (1928) 204 Cal. 424, 426.)  Here, Plaintiffs contend the reorganization 
contemplated in Exhibits 1 and 6 to the FAC, did not result in anything of value being 
exchanged.  To the contrary, Defendants contend Plaintiffs received full consideration for the 
Amendment (Exhibit 6).  The creation of Stamm Enterpirses, Ltd, and the receipt of assets 
included therein were consideration received by Plaintiffs.   
 
  “‘A contract is extinguished by its rescission.’ (Civ. Code, § 1688.) ‘Rescission not only 
terminates further liability but restores the parties to [*914]  their former position by requiring 
each to return whatever he or she received as consideration under the contract, or, where 
specific restoration cannot be had, its value. [Citations.]’” (Marzec v. Public Employees’ 
Retirement System (2015) 236 Cal.App.4th 889, 913-914.)  While Plaintiff has alleged a 
statutory basis for rescission—fraud, Plaintiffs have not alleged they provided notice of their 
intent to rescind the agreements.  Nor do Plaintiffs’ allegations make it clear that nothing of 
value was exchanged, obviating the need to plead and prove an offer of return.  In fact, Plaintiffs 
allege the new subsidiary, Stamm Enterprises, Ltd., was created and acquired the Stamm 
Plaintiffs’ interests, which was benefit to Plaintiffs. (FAC, ¶57.) This allegation conflicts with 
Plaintiffs’ assertion that nothing of value was exchanged.  The demurrer is therefore sustained 
with leave to amend. 
 
 
Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 Pursuant to Evidence Code §§ 452 and 453, Defendants request the Court to take 
judicial notice of the Order Denying Defendants’ Motion to Strike entered on December 3, 2019. 
 
 The unopposed request is granted. 

 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC19-02174 
CASE NAME: SILVER VS. RAVENWOOD TOWNHOMES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT UNDER CCP 473 
FILED BY RAVENWOOD TOWNHOMES, INC., et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted.  Defendants shall answer or otherwise respond to Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint 
filed Feb. 10, 2020 by March 11, 2020. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-1963 
CASE NAME: THE PARTS PLACE INC.  VS  JOSEPH MIRANDA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT ON SISTER STATE 
JUDGMENT  /  FILED BY STELLA MIRANDA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 This case concerns a dispute over $1,396.00 in car parts that ballooned into a much 
larger Illinois judgment due to a quadrupling provision under Illinois law.  The judgment was 
against both the orderer, Joseph Miranda, and his mother, Stella Miranda, who had nothing to 
do with the Order but helped Joseph in his dispute over the charges with the Illinois-based 
merchant, plaintiff The Parts Place, Inc.  Plaintiff obtained a judgment in California for 
$10,418.39 based on the Illinois sister-state judgment.  Defendants now move to vacate that 
judgment, arguing that Illinois lacked personal jurisdiction over them, they were not properly 
served, and, their motions are timely. 
 
 For the reasons stated below, each defendant’s motion is granted.   
 

Factual background 
 

 On October 22, 2018, defendant Joseph Miranda, an adult, placed a telephone order for 
a car hood and several other items from plaintiff.  He paid for the Order by credit card.  The cost 
of the Order was $1,176.00 for the parts and $220.00 for shipping, for a total cost of $1,396.00.  
The other defendant, Stella Miranda, is Joseph’s mother.  She denies having anything to do with 
placing the Order.  (S. Miranda Decl., ¶ 33-37.)   
 
 Joseph asked for the Order to be shipped to 2360 Dolan Way in San Pablo, California, 
listing that as the delivery and billing address.  The parties dispute whether that is his usual 
place of abode.  Joseph and his mother, Stella, state it is not.  The only undisputed residents at 
2360 Dolan Way are Stella Miranda and her “family,” including her daughter Mary Miranda.  (S. 
Miranda Decl., ¶ 3.)  Joseph claims he used that address just because he knew his mother or 
his sister Mary would be home to accept the delivery.  His mother is bedridden and is almost 
always home with a caregiver.  (J. Miranda Decl. in Supp. of Stella motion, ¶ 6, 7; J. Miranda in 
Supp. of Joseph motion, ¶ 5.)  Plaintiff claims this is Joseph’s address based on an Internet 
“Fast People Search” it conducted (see Ex. to Donaldson Decl.) and the fact that Joseph listed it 
as both his billing and delivery address. 
 
 In its Opposition Memorandum of Points and Authorities, plaintiff claims that at the time 
Joseph placed the Order he was warned to inspect the contents of his shipment before he 
accepted it.  Plaintiff would file a claim with the shipper if Joseph found damages before 
accepting the shipment.  But if he signed for the shipment and discovered the damage later, he 
would have to file his own claim with the shipper.  Further plaintiff would claim his signature 
meant there was no damage.  (Opp. to Joseph’s Motion at 2:25-3:4.)  However, plaintiff submits 
no proof that such a warning is given during a telephone order, other than an allegation in the 
unverified complaint in the Illinois action.  (See Ex. A to Donaldson Decl., Complaint, ¶ 7.)   
 
 Stella Miranda states that she was home when the goods arrived on November 2, 2018, 
but did not answer the door or accept them because she is bedridden, and can only move about 
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her house in a large electric wheelchair that cannot easily get to the door.  She states that her 
daughter, Mary, who is her caregiver, answered the door.   (S. Miranda Decl., ¶ 6, 26.)   
 
 Joseph Miranda states that he received a call from the delivery driver stating the delivery 
was about to be made, so he began to drive to his mother house, but did not arrive there in time.  
(J. Miranda Decl., ¶ 6.) 
 
 Mary Miranda states that she received Joseph’s package.  The delivery driver told her he 
would not unload the package until she signed for the items.  She saw that the outside of the 
box was slightly torn, so she asked to inspect the items first.  He refused, saying she had to sign 
first in order to open the package.  He said she would have the opportunity to inspect the items 
once she signed for the shipment.  So she signed.  Once the items were unloaded, it was clear 
that the box was damaged, and she called Joseph.  (M. Miranda Decl., ¶ 3-5.) 
 
 Joseph shortly arrived, saw the damage, and immediately reported it to plaintiff’s 
representative.  (J. Miranda Decl., ¶ 6, 7.)   Plaintiff gave him no satisfaction.  Therefore, on or 
about November 8, 2018 (the actual letter itself bears the date November 2, 2018) he disputed 
the charge on his credit card, asking for a refund of $799 for the damaged part, plus $220 for 
the shipping. (Id., ¶ 9 and attached Exhibit A.)   
 
 Stella claims that Joseph has some type of learning or communication disability, so she 
helps him with things like complaining to merchants.  Stella helped him with subsequent 
communications with plaintiff.  (S. Miranda Decl., ¶ 7, 8, 9, 11; J. Miranda Decl., ¶ 8.)   
 
 Plaintiff claims that when it would not immediately satisfy Joseph and Stella’s demands 
for satisfaction, Stella maligned plaintiff on Facebook and Yelp.  Nevertheless, plaintiff 
eventually offered to pick up the items and give a refund.  However, when its shipper arrived on 
January 25, 2019 to do so, Joseph said there was no freight for them to pick up.  That same day 
plaintiff was notified of the disputed credit card charge for the cost of the items.  (See Ex. A to 
Donaldson Decl., Ill. Complaint, ¶ 17 – 20.) 
 

On April 16, 2019 a credit card arbitration ruling was issued in favor of Joseph and 
against plaintiff.  Plaintiff apparently did not timely appeal that ruling.  Instead, on May 10, 2019 
it filed a Complaint in DeKalb County, Illinois.  The Complaint states causes of action for Fraud 
and Civil Conspiracy against Joseph and Stella.  The alleged misrepresentations were that 
Joseph would pay for the items if plaintiff would ship them to him, and that Joseph and Stella 
said the Order would be available for pick up in exchange for a refund.  In addition, the 
Complaint states causes of action for Bad Faith, Breach of Contract, Unjust Enrichment, and 
Replevin against Joseph.  Plaintiff sought recovery of the $1,396, another $500 related to the 
credit card arbitration and/or pickup charges, and punitive damages of four times the actual 
damages because defendants’ conduct was fraudulent and egregious.  (Ex. H to Donaldson 
Decl., Motion for Default Judgment, p. 2, ¶ 9.) 

 
Plaintiff filed a Proof of Service claiming the Illinois Complaint was personally served on 

both Stella and Joseph at 8:11 p.m. on May 17, 2019.  (Exs. F and G to Donaldson Decl.)  Both 
Stella and Joseph deny they were ever personally served with the Illinois Complaint.   
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On July 29, 2019, plaintiff obtained a default Judgment in the Illinois action for 
$9,480.00, plus $391.00 in costs. 

 
On October 15, 2019, plaintiff filed an application in this court for entry of judgment on a 

sister state judgment.  Plaintiff purportedly served the papers on Stella and Joseph by 
substituted service at Stella’s home on November 3, 2019.  A copy of the papers was then 
mailed to Stella and Joseph on November 4, 2019.  Joseph filed his motion to vacate the 
judgment on Friday, December 13, 2019 and Stella hers on Monday, December 16, 2019. 
 

Legal Background 
 

“A judgment creditor may apply for the entry of a judgment based on a sister state 
judgment by filing an application pursuant to Section 1710.20.”  (CCP § 1710.15 (a).)  “Upon the 
filing of the application, the clerk shall enter a judgment . . .”  (CCP § 1710.25 (a).)  “Notice of 
entry of judgment shall be served promptly by the judgment creditor upon the judgment debtor in 
the manner provided for service of summons . . . . Notice . . . shall inform the judgment debtor 
that the judgment debtor has 30 days within which to make a motion to vacate the judgment.”  
(CCP § 1710.30 (a); see also § 1710.40 (b).) 
 

“A judgment entered pursuant to this chapter may be vacated on any ground which 
would be a defense to an action in this state on the sister state judgment . . . (CCP § 1710.40 
(a.))  (See Conseco Marketing, LLC v. IFA & Ins. Services, Inc. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 831, 839 
(listing those grounds).)  Such grounds include that the sister state lacked personal jurisdiction 
over the defendant, either because the defendant lacked minimum contacts with the forum state 
or because he was never properly served with the summons and complaint.  (See Yu v. Signet 
Bank/Virginia (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 1377, 1385 (California credit cardholder had insufficient 
contacts with bank’s home state of Virginia to be sued there; “A judgment of a court lacking 
personal jurisdiction is a violation of due process, and it is null and void everywhere, including 
the state in which it is rendered”); Munoz v. Lopez (1969) 275 Cal.App.2d 178, 181 (judgment 
may be vacated for false recital of service even though not deliberate).)  
 

Stella’s motion 
 

1. Stella lacked sufficient contacts with Illinois. 
 

Illinois is subject to constitutional limitations on a personal judgment against a non-
resident defendant and recognizes this in its decisions.  
 

“The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment limits the 
power of a state court to render a valid personal judgment against 
a nonresident defendant.” (World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. 
Woodson (1980), 444 U.S. 286, 291 . . . To subject a defendant to 
a judgment in personam, due process requires that the defendant 
have certain minimum contacts with the forum State such that 
maintenance of the suit there does not offend “traditional notions 
of fair play and substantial justice.” International Shoe Co. v. 
Washington (1945), 326 U.S. 310, 316 . . .  (Wiles v. Morita Iron 
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Works Co. (1988) 125 Ill. 2d 144, 149-150.)   
 

The minimum contacts required for personal jurisdiction must be based on some act by 
which the defendant purposely avails himself of the privilege of conducting activities within the 
forum state, thus invoking the benefits and protections of its laws.  (See Burger King Corp. v. 
Rudzewicz (1985) 471 U.S. 471, 474.)  The purposeful availment requirement “ensures that a 
defendant will not be haled into a jurisdiction solely as a result of ‘random,’ ‘fortuitous,’ or 
‘attenuated’ contacts.”  (Id. at 475.)  The defendant’s contacts with the state must be 
“substantial” or “significant.”  (Id. at 475-476.)   The mere formation of a contract, by itself, is not 
a sufficient minimum contact. (Id. at 478.)   The Due Process clause prevents rules that “would 
unfairly enable [commercial actors] to obtain default judgments against unwitting customers.”  
(Id. at 486.)   

 
Further, even if there are minimum contacts, the court must consider whether 

the “assertion of personal jurisdiction would comport with ‘fair play and substantial justice.’”  
(Id. at 476.)   

 
After Burger King, Illinois adopted an active/passive test to determine whether exercising 

personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state purchaser would comport with “notions of fair play and 
substantial justice.”  Under that test, Illinois does not exert personal jurisdiction over an out-of-
state purchaser if he or she “merely places an order by mail, telephone, or to a salesperson and 
accepts the seller’s price as stated in advertising or other forms of solicitation,” but does if he or 
she is an active purchaser, that is one who “departs from a passive role by dictating or 
vigorously negotiating contract terms or by inspecting production facilities.”  (Wiggen v. Wiggen 
(Ill. App. Ct. 2011) 954 N.E.2d 432, 439.)   

 
Here, Stella was not a purchaser at all.  Her only role, according to the Illinois complaint, 

was that she falsely represented the parts would be available for pickup in connection with a 
refund (Complaint, ¶ 25) and engaged in a conspiracy with Joseph to commit promissory fraud 
and induce plaintiff to arrange for the return of the items.   

 
Plaintiff only briefly discusses whether Stella has sufficient contacts with Illinois to 

support the assertion of personal jurisdiction over her there, and in part conflates this with a 
discussion of Illinois’ long-arm statute.  But the extent to which Illinois is willing to assert long-
arm jurisdiction as expressed in its long-arm statute (see Ex. L to Donaldson Decl.)  does not 
override the Due Process Clause’s restrictions on its ability to do so.  The “catchall provision 
makes the [Illinois] long-arm statute coextensive with the United States and Illinois 
Constitutions, ‘collaps[ing] the jurisdictional inquiry into the single issue of whether a defendant's 
Illinois contacts are sufficient to satisfy federal and Illinois due process.’”  (Khan v. Gramercy 
Advisors, LLC (2016) Il. App. ¶ 82.) 

 
When a nonresident defendant challenges personal jurisdiction in California, the plaintiff 

has the burden to prove that minimum contacts exist.  (Elkman v. National States Ins. Co. 
(2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 1305, 1313.)   The same is true when a nonresident challenges personal 
jurisdiction in Illinois.  (Howard v. Missouri Bone & Joint Center, Inc. (2007) 373 Ill.App.3d 738, 
740-41.)  
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Plaintiff has failed to submit any evidence that Stella placed the Order, conspired with 
Joseph to place the Order with no intent to pay for it, or participated in or committed any fraud 
with regard to the pickup of the items.  It cites only its unverified Illinois Complaint.  That is not 
evidence.  Plaintiff has failed to meet its burden to prove that Stella had minimum contacts with 
the State of Illinois. 

 
2. Service. 

 
A defendant filing a motion under CCP § 1710.30 (a) and 1710.40 may establish that the 

sister state judgment is unenforceable by proving that the judgment was obtained by extrinsic 
fraud.  (Conseco, supra.)  A judgment based on a false recital of service is obtained by extrinsic 
fraud.  (Munoz, supra.)   
 

Stella claims that the Illinois judgment is based on a false recital of service.  Plaintiff 
claims that the recital of service is not false.  It submits the declaration of its process server and 
its “Fast People Search.”  (Exs. F and G to Donaldson Decl.)   

 
The return of a registered process server establishes a presumption of the fact stated 

in the return.  (Evid. C. § 647.)  This presumption affects only the burden of producing evidence.  
(Ibid.)  Once evidence is introduced that would support a finding to the contrary, the trier of fact 
determines the existence or nonexistence of the fact without regard to the presumption.  
(Evid. C. § 604.)   

 
Here, Stella and Joseph have introduced sufficient evidence to rebut the presumption.  

Both deny ever being personally served, and state supporting facts.  Stella’s are that she is 
bedridden and wheelchair-bound and does not answer her front door.  Joseph’s is that he has 
not lived at Stella’s house for the last seven years. 

 
The court finds that Stella and Joseph were not personally served on May 17, 2019 at 

8:11 p.m.  It accepts their denials over the process server’s assertion.  It does not find it credible 
that Stella would have answered her front door, or, even if she had and Joseph happened to be 
at the residence at the time, that both of them would have answered the front door at the same 
time.  Plaintiff has not submitted any additional evidence regarding the service from its process 
server in response to Stella and Joseph’s denial of being personally served.  Further, its “Fast 
People Search” has not been shown to be admissible or reliable, and does not establish the 
Dolan Way address as Joseph’s current, as opposed to a past, address. 

 
3. The motion is timely. 

 
A notice of entry of a judgment based on a sister-state judgment must be served in the 

same manner as service of a summons.  (CCP § 1710.30 (a).)  Thus, if the application is served 
personally, a motion to vacate the judgment must be filed within 30 days.  (CCP § 1710.40 (b).) 

 
When notice of entry of the judgment is served by substituted service, however, the rules 

pertaining to service of a summons provide that service is not complete until 10 days after the 
application is mailed.  (CCP § 415.20 (b).) 
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Here, plaintiff concedes that Stella had 40 days rather than 30 to serve her motion, but 
counts the 40 days beginning with November 3, 2019, when it allegedly sub-served the papers, 
rather than with November 4, 2019, when it completed the sub-service by mailing a copy of the 
papers to her.  That is incorrect.  The 40 days ran from November 4, 2019, the date of mailing.  
(CCP § 415.20 (b).)  It ended on Saturday, December 14, 2019.  Stella therefore had until 
Monday December 16 to file her motion.   Thus, her motion was timely under CCP § 1710.30 (a) 
and 1710.40 (b).) 

 
Even if it had not been, the 30-day limit would be no bar.  “The 30-day limit does not 

apply where the judgment debtor was not served properly with process in the sister state action. 
[Citation.] ‘When a court lacks jurisdiction in a fundamental sense, an ensuing judgment is void, 
and ‘thus vulnerable to direct or collateral attack at any time.’ . . . .”  (Conseco, supra, 221 
Cal.App.4th at 839.)   

 
Joseph’s motion 

 
 Joseph’s motion is even more clearly timely than Stella’s.  He filed his motion on Friday, 
December 13, 2019 rather than Monday, December 16, 2019, as Stella did. 
 
 Further, he has persuaded the court by a preponderance of the evidence that he was not 
personally served at Stella’s house on May 10, 2019.   
 
 In addition, while he did place the Order, he did not have minimum contacts with 
the State of Illinois under the authorities discussed above.   He was a passive rather than 
an active purchaser. 

 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN19-1963 
CASE NAME: THE PARTS PLACE INC.  VS.  JOSEPH MIRANDA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO VACATE ENTRY OF JUDGMENT ON SISTER-STATE 
JUDGMENT  /  FILED BY JOSEPH MIRANDA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See line #13. 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN20-0114 
CASE NAME: DIAZ VS. CHAVEZ 
HEARING ON MINOR'S COMPROMISE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

 


